CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBILITY AND ETHICS IN WASHINGTON et al v. FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

CITIZENSFOR RESPONSIBILITY AND
ETHICSIN WASHINGTON, et al.,

Plaintiffs,
V. Civil Action No. 10-1350 (JEB)
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics\Washington (CREW) and its Executive
Director, Melanie Sloan, bring this sulteging that the Fedek&lection Commission

wrongfully dismissed their administrative colaipt. In addition, they claim that the

Doc. 16

Commission did not provide timely notice of tthiemissal or the reasons therefor. Because

Plaintiffs have not sufficiently articulated a corterand particularized injury, they lack standing

to pursue these clainis.

l. Factual Background
A. FECA

The Federal Election Campaigwat (FECA), 2 U.S.C. 88 434t seq., as amended

by the

Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act of 2002, Pub. L. No. 107-155, seeks to remedy any actual or

perceived corruption of the pbbal process through contributi@md expenditure limitations as

well as recordkeeping and dissloe requirements. See Fedétkection Commission v. Akins,

! The Court has reviewed Plaintiffs’ Amended CorilaDefendant’s Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiffs’

Opposition, and Defendant’s Reply.
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524 U.S. 11, 14 (1998). Thedmeral Election Commission (FEC) is the independent, executive-
branch agency that oversees tnplementation and administration of FECA. 2 U.S.C. § 437c.
The Commission is composed of six voting menshno more than three of whom may be
affiliated with the same politat party, who are appointed byetPresident and confirmed by the
Senate. § 437c(a)(1).

The FEC is the exclusive civil enforcement authority for violations of FECA. 88
437c(b)(1); 437d(e). Any person whelieves that a violation of ¢hAct has occurred may file a
signed and sworn complaint with the FEC. § 48)yd(. Upon receipt of a complaint, the FEC
must, within five days, notify the person or persons alleged in the complaint to have committed
such a violation._ld. The subjects of the conmplthen have fifteen days to demonstrate to the
FEC that no action should be taken against tberthe basis of the complaint._Id. If the
Commission determines, by a vote of at least four of its members, that it has “reason to believe
that a person has committed, or is abowtimmit, a violation,” the Commission must conduct
an investigation. 8 437g(a)(2R@fter the investigion, the General Counsel of the Commission
then makes a recommendation regarding hopraceed by filing with the Commission a “brief
stating the position of the gamaé counsel on the legand factual issues of the case.” §
437g(a)(3). After considerintpis recommendation, the Commission then determines how to
proceed -e.g., it may dismiss the complaint, attempt to correct or prevent the violation, enter
into a conciliation agreement with any persovoimed, or institute enforcement proceedings up
to and including a civil suit in federal distrimburt against the violater See 88 437g(a)(4)-(6).

If at any time the Commission votes temiss a complaint filed under § 437g(a)(1), the
filer may seek judicial review. § 437g(a)(8pection 437g(a)(8) providehe timeline and legal

standard for such an action:



(A) Any party aggrieved by an ordef the Commission dismissing
a complaint filed by such party under paragraph (1), or by a
failure of the Commission to act on such complaint during the
120-day period beginning on the date the complaint is filed,
may file a petition with the Unite States District Court for the
District of Columbia.

(B) Any petition under subparagraph (8hall be filed, in the case
of a dismissal of a complaint by the Commission, within 60
days after the dataf the dismissal.

(C) In any proceeding under thisrpgraph the court may declare
that the dismissal of the complaint or the failure to act is
contrary to law, and may dcethe Commission to conform
with such declaration within 30 days, failing which the
complainant may bring, in the name of such complainant, a civil
action to remedy the violatio involved in the original
complaint.

In determining whether the Commission’s decision to dismiss a complaint (also known as
a “Matter Under Review” or “MUR”) was contratg law, the Court mareview the General
Counsel’s brief in cases where the Gen@alinsel recommended dismissal, see FEC v.

Democratic Senatorial Campaign Commit#®4 U.S. 27, 38 n.19 (1981), or the Commission’s

“Statement of Reasons” in cases where the Commission declined to follow the General

Counsel’'s recommendation to proceed withdhse. See Common Cause v. FEC, 108 F.3d 413,

415 (D.C. Cir. 1997).

B. CREW

CREW is a § 501(c)(3) non-profit corporatithrat “uses a combination of research,
litigation, and advocacy to advance its missioh"ensuring the integrity of government
officials and [] protecting the righdf citizens to be informedbaut the activities of government
officials.” Am. Compl., 1 5. In furtherana# this goal, CREW and its Executive Director,
Plaintiff Melanie Sloan, “monitor[] the campaigméince activities of those who run for federal

office and publicize[] those who violate fedecaimpaign finance laws through its website, press



releases, reports, and other methods of didtobui Id. at 6. CREW also “files complaints
with the FEC when it discovexsolations” of FECA. Id.

C. The Current Action

Plaintiffs initiated thiscase on August 11, 2010, and filed their Amended Complaint on
October 28, 2010. Plaintiffs’ claims arise frohe FEC’s decision to dismiss MUR 5908, an
administrative complaint Plaintiffs filed agnst Peace Through Strength Political Action
Committee (PTS PAC) and its treasurer, MigreKelley, on March 14, 2007._1d., § 33; Opp.,
Exh. 1 (Federal Election Commission Complaint In the MatteredcP through Strength PAC
and Meredith Kelley, Treasurer).

PTS PAC was the political action committeeR&presentative Duncan Hunter, who was
a candidate for Presidenttbie United States during the 208l@ction. Am. Compl., T 33.
Plaintiffs generally complainetthat PTS PAC provided supportltunter, in violation of FECA,
both during the “testing the waters” phase beforeffieially entered the presidential race, as
well as after he registered his principal calgpaommittee, Hunter for President (also called
the Hunter Committee). See FEXOmplaint. More specifically, Plaintiffs’ administrative
complaint alleged four separate counts again& PAC. First, Plaintis alleged that Hunter
“traveled extensively to early presidential primatgtes . . . using PTS PAC to ‘test the waters’
for his presidential candidacy,” id., 1 25; bge&ving 11 individual contributions (totaling
$52,650) that exceeded FECA'’s $2,300 individual igbation limit to an individual engaged in
“testing the waters,” PTS PAC knowingly acap$27,350 in excessive contributions in
violation § 441a(f)._Id., 1 27. Second, Pldfatalleged that because PTS PAC expended over
$5,000 on advertisements designeg@ublicize Hunter’s intention toampaign for federal office,
it was required to register with the FEC asitér’s principal campaign committee, but failed to

do so in violation of § 433(a)ld., 11 23-31. Third, Plaintiffalleged that by paying an amount
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in excess of $5,000 for PTS PAC advertisementsifeat Hunter after the formation of Hunter
for President, PTS PAC made essie in-kind contributions to tihter for President in violation
of § 441a(a)(2)(A) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.2(b)(1d., 111 32-35. Finally, Plaiifs alleged that to
the extent PTS PAC had failed to report disbuonesets for certain television advertisements in
December 2006, it violated 11 C.F.R. B%.3(b) and 104.9(a). Id., 1 36-37.

After reviewing the administrative corgint and PTS PAC's response, the FEC’s
General Counsel prepared an initial repedommending that the Commission find reason to
believe that PTS PAC, Meredith Kelley, Dunddnnter, Hunter for President, and Treasurer
Bruce Young had violated FECA. Opp., Exh. 8gFGeneral Counsel’'s Report). The First
General Counsel’s Report did rexddress CREW's claims exacHyg they appeared in the
administrative complaint, but instead found somatdifferent violations Although Plaintiffs’
administrative complaint had focused on the advertisements paid for by PTS PAC, this Report
concluded that while “the telesion ads that are the primdoncus of the complaint did not
constitute an in-kind contributh to Hunter’s presidential camign or cause Hunter to trigger
candidate status, it appears totiter PTS PAC disbursements did l¢adiolations of the Act.”
Id. at 3. Specifically, the General Counsstommended that the Commission find reason to
believe that: (1) Duncan Hunter failed to timélg a Statement of Candidacy and to maintain
records of contributions received and expenditures made dileas “testing the waters”; (2)
Hunter for President, Inc. and its TreasuBrryce Young, failed to repocontributions received
and expenditures made by Hunter during the “testiegvaters” period after had registered as
Hunter’s principal campaign committee and weguired to file reports of receipts and
disbursements with the Commissj and (3) PTS PAC and itséasurer, Meredith Kelley, made

excessive in-kind contributions to Duncan Huriterhis Presidential campaign and that Duncan



Hunter and Hunter for President, Inc. andi& Young accepted excessoantributions._Id.

The potentially excessive in-kind contributiadentified in this Report related not to the
advertisements funded by PTS PAC, but rath&T8 PAC’s funding of Huet’s travel to early
primary states during his “tiisg the waters” phase. ldt 11. The General Counsel
recommended that the Commission “take no actighisitime” regarding the allegations that
PTS PAC and Meredith Kelley failed to reporshlirsements for the television advertisements
run in December 2006. Id. at 3.

Based on the First General Counsel’'s Regbe Commission found reason to believe
that violations of FECA hadccurred, see Am. Compl., 1 3fdaconducted an investigation of
the issues raised by MUR 5908. Following the stig@tion, the Gener&ounsel prepared her
second report to the Commission. See Opp., ExBeferal Counsel’'s Repgat2). Portions of
Report #2 are redacted, including some of thee®&d Counsel’'s recommendations. See, e.g., id.
at 3, 13-15. The public portions of this Repbowever, reveal that PTS PAC expended
$10,243 on Hunter’s “testing-the-waters” tralbetween November 2006 and January 2007, and
the “investigation confirmed that PTS PAflated 2 U.S.C. 88 441a(a)(2) and 434(b), by
making and failing to report excessive in-kirahtributions to the Hunter Committee and that
Hunter and the Hunter Committee violad).S.C. 8§88 441a(f) and 434, by accepting and failing
to report PTS PAC’s excessive im#d contributions.”_Id. at 2-3With respect to allegations
that Hunter was late in filing his StatemehiCandidacy, the Gendr@ounsel recommended
that “[bJecause the Statement of Candidacy was only threeldi®, . . . we are not
recommending the Commission pursue a civil perfaltghese violations.” 1d. at 10-11. She

again recommended that the Commission find no reason to believe PTS PAC and Meredith



Kelley violated 88 434(b) and 441a(a)(2) with respieche televisions advertisements. Id. at
15.

Having received both General Counsel’'pB#s, the FEC voted to dismiss MUR 5908
on June 29, 2010, thereby triggeringiBtiffs’ 60-day clock in whicho appeal the dismissal.
Am. Compl., 11 47, 36. In its StatemenR#asons for dismissing CREW’s administrative
complaint, the Commission addressed CREWe&gations regarding e€essive contributions
and reporting violations. See MoExh. 1 (Statement of Reason3fhe Commissin explained:

The Commission’s investigatiomdicates that PTS PAC made
approximately $10,200 in disbursents for travel expenses
incurred during approximately ¢hsame time that Congressman
Hunter was testing the weas for his presidential campaign.

PTS PAC is subject to a maxium contribution limit of $5,000.
Therefore, if any of the disbursenis at issue were on behalf of the
Hunter Committee, they would have resulted in up to $10,200 in in-
kind contributions that were naeported, of which up to $5,200
would have been excessive. On the other hand, if the disbursements
were made solely on behalf of PTS PAC, then no in-kind
contributions would have resulted.

Id. at 3. After reviewing the results oktinvestigation, the Gomission observed that

[n]othing revealed in the Comnsi®n’s investigation contradicts
the conclusion that the travel disbursements advanced PTS PAC'’s
core mission. The Commissi notes further that any
disbursements benefitting bothetlpresidential campaign and PTS
PAC would have been allocabletiveen the two committees. Even

if one assumes that PTS PAC and the Hunter Committee benefitted
equally from the disbursements, such an allocation would reduce
the amount of potentially excessive contributions to just over $100.

Id. The Commission therefore dded that “[i]n light of the ratively small amount potentially

in violation,” it would “exercig its prosecutorial discretion purant to Heckler v. Chaney, 470

U.S. 821, 831 (1985), and take natlfier action as to the allegaris regarding excessive in-kind
contributions.” _Id. The Comrssion similarly exercised its pmsutorial discretion to dismiss

the complaint as to Hunter’s alleged late filwighis Statement of Candidacy, finding that any



potential violation would bede minimis’ as “his [s]tatement was, atost, three days late.” Id.
at 4.

In a letter dated July 23 — 2iays after the vote — andaeived by CREW on July 27, the
FEC notified Plaintiffs that MUR 5908 had bedgismissed. Am. Compl., § 34. On August 11,
43 days after the Commission had dismissed MI988, Plaintiffs filed their original Complaint
in this case._Id., 1 38. At that time, the F&el not yet published iStatement of Reasons for
dismissing MUR 5908. Id. On August 23, the FECt@o®n its website the Certification of the
June 29, 2010, Commission vote to dismiss aadwlo General Counsel Reports relating to
MUR 5908 (dated January 18, 2008, and May 3, 201d) 11 47-48, 50. By letter dated
August 24, 2010, six days before Plaintiffs’ windofiappeal was set to close, the FEC sent
Plaintiffs its Statement of Reasoiws dismissing MUR 5908. 1d., § 40.

Now that Plaintiffs have been afforded thgportunity to amend theComplaint to take
the FEC’s Statement of Reasons into account, thegmly assert two claimsFirst, Plaintiffs
allege that the FEC wrongfully dismissed MUR 59@8iolation of § 437¢4)(8)(A). Id. at v
70-72. Second, Plaintiffs allegieat the FEC did not timely notify them of the dismissal, and,
moreover, it has an unlawful policy and piee of failing to povide § 437g(a)(8)(A)
complainants with the “statutorily mandated 60 dasice of dismissal and basis of dismissal.”
Id. at 1§ 73-78. Plaintiffs se@eclaratory and injunctive reliébr these alleged violations.

The FEC has now moved to dismiss PléfisitAimended Complaint under Federal Rules
of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1)ral 12(b)(6) on the grounds that PiE#ifs lack standing and have

failed to state a claim.



. Legal Standard

In evaluating Defendant’s Motion to Dismiske Court must “treat the complaint's
factual allegations as true. and must grant plaintiff ‘the befiteof all inferences that can be

derived from the facts alleged.” SparrowUnited Air Lines, Inc., 216 F.3d 1111, 1113 (D.C.

Cir. 2000) (quoting Schuler v. United Stat647 F.2d 605, 608 (D.Cir. 1979)) (internal

citation omitted); see also Jerome Steveharms., Inc. v. FDA, 402 F.3d 1249, 1253 (D.C. Cir.

2005). This standard governs tBeurt’s considerations of Defdant’s Motion under both Rules

12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6). See Scheuer kioRes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974) (“in passing on a

motion to dismiss, whether on the ground of latfurisdiction over the subject matter or for
failure to state a cause of axtj the allegations of the complashould be construed favorably

to the pleader”); Walker v. Jones, 733 FO&8, 925-26 (D.C. Cir. 1984) (same). The Court

need not accept as true, however, “a legal losian couched as a fael allegation,” nor an

inference unsupported by the facts set fortthenComplaint._Trudeaw Fed. Trade Comm’n,

456 F.3d 178, 193 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (quotingoRsan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)

(internal quotation marks omitted).
To survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(h)Plaintiffs bear the burden of proving

that the Court has subject matter jurisdictiohear their claims. See Lujan v. Defenders of

Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992); U.S. Ecologyc.In. U.S. Dep't of Interior, 231 F.3d 20, 24

(D.C. Cir. 2000). A court has an “affirmative olaigpn to ensure thati$ acting within the

scope of its jurisdictional authty.” Grand Lodge of Fraterh®rder of Police v. Ashcroft, 185

F. Supp. 2d 9, 13 (D.D.C. 2001). For this reasahg“[p]laintiff's factuad allegations in the
complaint . . . will bear closer scrutiny in resolving a 12(b)(1) motion’ than in resolving a

12(b)(6) motion for failure to state a claimld. at 13-14 (quoting 5A Charles A. Wright &

Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and Procesl&§r1350 (2d ed. 1987) (alteration in original)).
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Additionally, unlike witha motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the Court “may consider
materials outside the pleadings in deciding Wwhaeto grant a motion to dismiss for lack of

jurisdiction.” Jerome Stevens, 402 F.3d at 1Z2&% also Venetian Casi Resort, L.L.C. v.

E.E.O.C., 409 F.3d 359, 366 (D.C. Cir. 2005) vamn the present postuoé this case — a
dismissal under Rule 12(b)(1) apeness grounds — the court maysider materials outside the

pleadings”); Herbert v. Nat'l Academy 8kciences, 974 F.2d 192, 197 (D.C. Cir. 1992).

1. Analysis

The FEC moves to dismiss both counts a@iiilffs’ Amended Complaint on the grounds
that Plaintiffs lack standingnd that they have failed toagé a claim under § 437g(a)(8). The
Court need only reach the first question.

A. Wrongful Dismissal of MUR 5908

Plaintiffs allege that the FEC’s dismised MUR 5908 was “arbitrary, capricious, an
abuse of discretion, and contraoylaw in violation of 2 U.SC. § 437g(a)(8)(A).” Am. Compl.,
1 71. Plaintiffs complain that, “[d]espitee FEC's finding that PTS PAC had made illegal
excessive contributions to tivunter for President campaign,ither PTS PAC nor Hunter for
President has ever amended its FEC repor&fliect the in-kind comtbutions by PTS PAC to
Hunter for President. In the absence of thesections to the public record, it is impossible to
determine from any examination of PTS PAC’s Rie@orts that it made in-kind contributions to
Hunter for President.”_Id., T 51. drttiffs assert that they arehttrefore entitledo relief in the
form of a declaratory order that defendanCFEfailure to require PTS PAC and Hunter for
President to amend their FEC reports to retleetreceipt of in-kind contributions by PTS PAC

to Hunter for President is coaty to law in violation o2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(8).”_Id., 1 72.

10



As a threshold matter, Plaintiffs must ddish their standing tpursue this claim.
Having the right to file an administrative colajnt with the FEC doesot necessarily give
Plaintiffs standing to seek judaireview of the digosition of that complaint in this Court:
“Section 437g(a)(8)(A) does notmfer standing; it confersraght to sue upon parties who

otherwise already have standi” Common Cause, 108 F.3d at 419. The Court must therefore

consider whether Plaintiffs have established stapah this case.

Article Il of the United States Constitution limits the jurisdiction of the federal courts to
resolving “Cases” and “Controversies.” U.QNST. art. lll, § 2, cl. 1.A party’s standing “is an
essential and unchanging part of the case-otrocoersy requirement of Article 11.”_Lujan, 504
U.S. at 560. To have standing, a party must, @nstitutional minimum, meet the following
criteria. First, the plaintiff “must have sufferan ‘injury in fact’ —an invasion of a legally-
protected interest which is (a) concrete andi@aarized . . . and (Bactual or imminent, not
“conjectural” or “hypothetical[.]” Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 (citains omitted). Second, “there
must be a causal connection beén the injury and the conduct cdaiped of — the injury has to
be ‘fairly . . . trace[able] tthe challenged action of the defentiaand not . . . th[e] result [of]
the independent action of some third party not teefloe court.”” 1d. (alterations in original)
(citation omitted). Third, “it mudbe ‘likely,” as opposed to merelgpeculative,that the injury
will be ‘redressed by a favorable decision.t. bt 561 (citation omitted)A “deficiency on any
one of the three prongs suffices to defganding.” _U.S. Ecology, 231 F.3d at 24.

The FEC contends Plaintiffs have failed ttabtish standing to ajgal the dismissal of
MUR 5908 under prongs one andedé of the Lujan testi-e., they have failed to allege a

concrete and particularized injury that mayrédressed by a favorableaigon. Mot. at 1.

11



As to prong one, Plaintiffs ags¢hat they have suffered informational injuries sufficient
to confer standing under thei@eme Court’s decision in FEC v. Akins, 524 U.S. 11 (1988).
Opp. at 18-19. While recognimj that “CREW and Sloan genbyaallege an informational
interest,” the FEC contends ttliaey have “not identified any spific information they allegedly
lack, let alone how any missing information wable ‘useful in voting.” Mot. at 13-14

(quoting Common Cause, 108 F.3d at 418). HEftsrrespond that their Amended Complaint

does identify the specific information lackingh& ‘in-kind contributiondy PTS PAC to Hunter
for President.”” Opp. at 20 (quoting Am. Compl., 1 51). Plain#ffsert that this information
would have helped Sloan, as a voter in presidl elections, and CREWith its mission of
disseminating information to the public, to “euate candidates for public office.” See id. at
19 (quoting in Akins, 524 U.S. at 20).

The Supreme Court in Akins recognized “infational injury” as a basis for standing to
challenge the FEC’s dismissal of a complairdem8 437g(a)(8)(A)._Akins arose from an FEC
finding that “the American Israel Publicffairs Committee (AIPAC) is not a ‘political
committee’ as defined by [FECA]” and its sesient refusal “to guire AIPAC to make
disclosures regarding its membership, cémitions, and expendituseghat FECA would
otherwise require.”_Id. at 13The plaintiffs, a group of voters with views often opposed to
AIPAC'’s, sought to challenge that deteration by appealing the dismissal of their
administrative complaint under 8§ 437g(a)(8). Id. at 15-18. The government argued that the
plaintiffs lacked standing because they hadsuffered an “injury in fact.”_Id. at 19.

The Supreme Court found thaettinjury of which respondents complain — their failure
to obtain relevant information — is injury of ankiithat FECA seeks to address.” 1d., 524 U.S. at

20 (citing Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 66-67 (1976) (“political committees” must disclose

12



contributors and disbursememdshelp voters understand wpoovides which candidates with
financial support)). The SuprenCourt described the informational injury suffered by the Akins
plaintiffs as follows:

The “injury in fact” that respondemithave suffered consists of their
inability to obtain information- lists of AIPAC donors (who are,
according to AIPAC, its members), and campaign-related
contributions and expenditures -athon respondents’ view of the
law, the statute requires that PAC make public. There is no
reason to doubt their claim thtte information would help them
(and others to whom they would communicate it) to evaluate
candidates for public office, especially candidates who received
assistance from AIPAC, and to auate the role that AIPAC’s
financial assistance might play anspecific election. Respondents’
injury consequently seems concrete and particular. Indeed, this
Court has previously held that aapitiff suffers an “injury in fact”
when the plaintiff fails to obtain information which must be
publicly disclosed pursuant to a statute.

524 U.S. at 21 (citing Public Citizen v. Department of Justice, 491 U.S. 440, 449 (1989)).

Since Akins, the D.C. Circuit has had se&@ccasions to corer the reach of

“informational injury” standing irthe context of 8§ 437g(a)(8) ams. In_.Common Cause, that

court considered whether CormmCause had standing to appbsa FEC’s dismissal of its
administrative complaint against the National Republican Senatorial Committee and the Montana
Republican Party. 108 F.3d 413. The court obsktivat in a claim based on informational-

injury standing “the nature of the informatiatbegedly withheld is dtical to the standing

analysis.” Id. at 417. If, the court held, “tméormation withheld is simply the fact that a

violation of FECA has occurde neither Common Cause nor itsmigers have suffered the type

of injury we recognized in Akins.” Id. Thmourt explained: “To hal that a plaintiff can

establish injury in fact merelyy alleging that he has beerpdged of the knowledge as to

whether a violation of the law has occurreod be tantamount t@cognizing a justiciable

interest in the enforcement of the law. Thisea@not do.” Id. at 41&ee also Judicial Watch,

13



Inc. v. FEC, 180 F.3d 277, 278 (D.C. Cir. 1999). On the other hand, the court suggdstid in
if “Common Cause were asserting an interegniowing how much mornea candidate spent in
an election, infringement of such an intemasty, under Akins, constitute a legally cognizable
injury in fact.” 108 F.3d at 418. The courtldiot reach this question, however, as Common
Cause did not allege a violatiofisuch an interest. Id.

In Wertheimer v. FEC, 268 F.3d 1070 (D.C. Cir. 2001), the D.C. Circuit again analyzed

the plaintiffs’ standing to appeal an FEC dissal under § 437g(a)(&his time arising from
claims under both FECA and the Presidentiackbn Campaign Fund Act. The Wertheimer
plaintiffs alleged that “notwithstanding theiid Act’s prohibition on presidential candidates
[who had accepted public financing] accepting abations from private sources, during the
1996 and 2000 presidential campaigns the twpnpolitical parties were funding campaign
advertisements furthering the election of their respective presidential nominees in close
coordination with those candigs.” 1d. at 1071. Through thesuit, plaintiffs sought “a
declaration that expenditures pglitical parties that furthehe election of their respective
presidential candidates, and that are coordihaiéh those presidential candidates, constitute
contributions to and expenditures by such pestidl candidates withithe meaning of the Fund
Act,” and which must be publicly disclosed under FECA. 1d. The FEC challenged the plaintiffs’
standing there as well.

To establish their standing, the Wertheimeiimiffs alleged they had been injured by the
Commission’s “failure . . . to implementa construe [FECA] to identify coordinated
expenditures by the major political parties tatier the election of #ir publicly financed

nominees as impermissibleoiwtributions’ and ‘&penditures,” including by denying them

14



information. _Id. at 1073. The “FEC'’s failure, elplaintiffs alleged, “dejved them of required
information about the source and amountarfdidates’ financing.”_Id.

The D.C. Circuit found that the Wertheimer pl#ifs had failed to allege an injury in
fact. The court concluded:

[UJunder the_AKins test, appellantsveafailed to kow either that
they are directly being deprived ahy information or that the legal
ruling they seek might lead to atidnal factual information. To be
sure, presidential candidates are subject to FECA'’s disclosure and
reporting requirements. And FECAequires political parties to
report each disbursement and tbdhcoordinated expenditures as a
discrete category. Yet, appelldanteunsel did nodispute that all
political parties currently reporall disbursements or that each
transaction appellants allege itegal is reported in some form.
During oral argument, counsel fappellants was asked what facts,
specifically, were not being disded. Counsel responded that the
‘fact’ of ‘coordination’” was beig withheld. But ‘coordination’
appears to us to be a legadnclusion that carries certain law
enforcement consequences. . .. As far as we can determine,
appellants do not really seeldditional facts but only the legal
determination that certain transactions constitute coordinated
expenditures. If so, candidatewould be required to report
allegedly coordinated expenditureshich currently only political
parties disclose, as disbursengent But that would mean that
appellants only seek the same information from a different source.
Any such increase in information resulting from the imposition of
duplicative reporting requirements seems trivial.

Id. at 1074-75. The court thereforesmiissed the case for lack of standing.

In this case, a review of Plaintiffs’ Aended Complaint, the two General Counsel’s
Reports, and the FEC’s Statement of Reasoreatgthat, like the Wertheimer plaintiffs, CREW
and Sloan have suffered no informational injuryhe amount of money PTS PAC spent on
Hunter’s travel during the “testiy the waters” stage bis campaign is publicly available online
in the General Counsel’'s Report #2, see Opp., £xAm. Compl., T 47, and does not appear to
be in dispute._See Am. Compl., T 42 (“PHAC made approximately $10,200 in disbursements

for travel expenses incurred during the saime Congressman Huntesas ‘testing the waters’

15



for his presidential campaign.”). Chart A ofgoet #2 lists the public events to which Hunter
travelled during the relevant time periaadaa breakdown showing the portion of PTS PAC’s
$10,243 in expenditures paid for baaf those trips. Opp., Exh. 4 at 5. Chart B of Report #2
provides a detailed list of the disbursements PAE made for each relevaadlvertisement. Id.
at12.

In trying to pinpoint the factuanformation they lack, Plaintiffs argue: “[P]aragraph 51
of the amended complaint identifies the specific information lacking here: the ‘in-kind
contributions by PTS PAC to Hunter for PresidénOpp. at 20 (quoting Am. Compl., T 51).
To review, the Hunter Committee had ardleat, at a minimum, the $10,243 should be
allocable between PTS PAC and the Huntem@ittee, respectively, on a 60%-40% basis.
Report #2 at 8. Such an allocation would resuléss than $5,000 in in-kind contributions by
PTS PAC to Hunter, which would not be excessive under § 441a and 11 C.F.R. § 110.2(b)(1).
The General Counsel rejected this suggedtedadion, and instead reged to the Commission
that the information gathered from the intigation showed that PTS PAC had, by paying for
Hunter's travel, made excessive in-kind ednitions. |d. at 9.The Commission, however,
declined to adopt the Genkéf2ounsel’s recommendation, instefatting: “[A]ny disbursements
benefitting both the presidential campaign an® PPRC would have beeailocable between the
two committees. Even if one assumes that PTS PAC and the Hunter Committee benefitted
equally from the disbursements, such an allocatien $5,100 each] would reduce the amount
of potentially excessive contributions to juster $100.” Statement of Reasons at 3. The
Commission, invoking its prosecutoridikcretion, dismissed the claim.

While this may not have been their prefdroatcome, it does not deprive Plaintiffs of

any information under Wertheimer. Muchdikcoordination,” classifying a particular
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disbursement as an “in-kind coibution” “appears to us to keelegal conclusion that carries
certain law enforcement consequences. ... Aadave can determine, [Plaintiffs] do not really
seek additional facts but only thegyal determination that certairmnsactions constitute” in-kind
contributions._Wertheimer, 268 F.3d at 1075.

CREW and Sloan simply do not allege any speds#ctual information they lack that is

not already publicly availabie the published FEC documents pertaining to MUR 5908. See
CREW v. FEC, 475 F.3d 337, 339 (D.C. Cir. 2000pholding summary judgment for FEC for
lack of standing in part because “any citizen wiamts to learn the detail of the transaction . . .
can do so by visiting the Comssion’s website, which contaitise list and a good deal more”).
Their Opposition reveals what Riéiffs are actually seeking:

At bottom, the Commission’s arguments flow from a callous

disregard for the legal and praeticsignificance of the FECA’s

reporting requirements. While ¢diisguishing between contributions

and expenditures lies at the heaf the FEC’s mission, the FEC

brushes these distinctions aside, suggesting individuals and entities

like the plaintiffs can learn nothg useful from knowing precisely

which expenditures an entity a& and which contributions a
candidate received.

Opp. at 21. Far from asserting even “an irdene knowing how mucimoney a candidate spent

in an election,” as the D.C. Circuit hintedght suffice as an informational injury, see Common
Cause, 108 F.3d at 418, what Plaintiffs want is a reclassification of PTS PAC'’s disbursements as
“in-kind contributions” under FECASee Am. Compl., § 72. Indeea relief, Plaintiffs assert

that they “are entitled to . a.declaratory order that defend&miC'’s failure to require PTS PAC

and Hunter for President to amend their FEforts to reflect the receipt of in-kind

contributions by PTS PAC to Hunter for President is contrary to law.” Id.
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This simply does not constitute informational injury. Plaintiffs “have failed to show
either that they are directly being deprivedhnf information or that #hlegal ruling they seek
might lead to additional factual informationWertheimer, 268 F.3d at 1074. As Plaintiffs’
Amended Complaint demands only amended FEQgSlito reclassify disbursements of which
they are already aware, and where already part of the publecord, this Court cannot find
that Plaintiffs have standing to bringethclaim for wrongful dismissal of MUR 5908.

B. Failure to Provide 60 Days’ Notice

In Count Il, Plaintiffs assethat 8 437g(a)(8) of FECAequires the FEC to provide
complainants with 60 days’ notice of any disgal of their complaint and the basis for such
dismissal.” Am. Compl., § 74. While not contairia any statutory provision, they argue this
requirement is necessary “in order to give megil effect to the statutory right to judicial
review conferred on any ‘pargggrieved’ by . . . 8 437g(a)(8)(A)ld., 1 76. Plaintiffs claim
that by not immediately notifyinBlaintiffs of MUR 5908’s disngsal and by not immediately
releasing its Statement of Reastfrsthe dismissal, the FEC vio&t Plaintiffs’ right to appeal
the dismissal within 60 days. Plaintiffs aveat “[b]y the time CREWANnd Ms. Sloan received
[the] notice of dismissal on July 27, 2010, they baly 34 days remaining in which to file such
a complaint” under 8§ 437g(a)(®), “notwithstanding the 6@ay notice period for filing
provided by [FECA].” _Id., T 36.

Plaintiffs’ complaints, moreover, are not lted to MUR 5908. Rather, they assert that
this “is not the first time the FEC has denied @REhe full 60 days in which to seek judicial
review of the FEC’s dismissal of its complaint.” Id., {1 52. Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint
describes numerous other instances in wthiehlFEC did not immediely notify a § 437g(a)(8)
complainant of dismissal — at times CREW, antina¢s other parties — and did not immediately
provide a Statement of Reasons, thereby trumgaltie 60-day window of appeal._Id., 1 52-66.
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Plaintiffs allege that “[ijn nearly all casetiCommission . . . waits days or weeks [after voting
to dismiss a complaint] before communicating tutcome of that vot®e the parties, and
typically waits weeks or monthsnger before providing the badior any dismissal.” Opp. at
28-29. This, Plaintiffs argue, is evidence ittt FEC has an unlawful “policy and practice of
refraining from providing complainants with timemptice of its decisions to dismiss complaints
and the basis for those dismissals.” Am. Confpb6. Plaintiffs lack standing on this Count as
well.

Section 437g(a)(8)(B) ates: “Any petition under subparagha(A) shall be filed, in the
case of a dismissal of a complaint by the Cassion, within 60 days &dr the date of the
dismissal.” The Act does not giamy timeframe in which a complainant must receive notice of
the dismissal. The D.C. Circuit, however, pasviously ruled that the 60-day countdown is
triggered on the day the Conssion votes to dismiss the complaint, not on the day the

Commission notifies the complainant of the dssal. See Spannaus v. FEC, 990 F.2d 643, 644

(D.C. Cir. 1993); Jordan v. FEG8 F.3d 518, 519 (D.C. Cir. 1995). This Court is, of course,

powerless to alter that determination.

Here, CREW and Sloan concededly receinetice 28 days after the Commission’s vote
to dismiss their Complaint. Am. Compl., T 3Bhey similarly received the FEC’s Statement of
Reasons six days before the deadline expirdd.{140. Although Plairfts had filed their suit
by then, they do not allege any prejudice in taise from the disclosurear the end of the 60-
day period. Nor could they since they havesiamended their initi@omplaint to take the
FEC'’s Statement of Reasons imtmnsideration. Where no prejod exists, Plaintiffs have

suffered no injury thatould confer standing.
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To the extent Plaintiffs are alleging a preetof untimely notice, the D.C. Circuit’s
decision in_Jordan is particularly instructivie. that case, Jordan appealed the FEC’s dismissal
of his administrative complaint 63 days after vioée to dismiss, but less than 60 days after the
FEC had sent his notification. 68 F.3d at 519. aomrgued that “starignthe clock on the date
of dismissal might allow the Commission tcoaVreview by withholdingiotice of its decision
until the 60-day period expired.”_Id. The codetclined to take the bait and remanded the case
with directions to dismiss for lack of juristion, writing, “Wewill face that hypdtetical case if
and when it arises.”_Id. “For now it is enoughptmnt out that the gena counsel’s letter to
Jordan’s attorney was dated July 29, 1991iledauly 31, 1991, and apparently received on
August 1, 1991. That left Jordan 53 daysvimch to file hispetition.” 1d.

If the Court of Appeals beliegahis issue should be adjudeatonly when it arises, this
Court will heed that counsel. This is particlijappropriate where Plaintiffs concede that they
do not seek redress for past urglyndisclosures. Opp. at 30.

As a result, the Court must reach the same result on the second count of the Amended

Complaint as on the first.

V. Conclusion

An Order accompanying this Memorand@pinion will grant Defendant’s Motion to

Dismiss and enter judgment in fawafrthe Federal Election Commission.

SO ORDERED.
Islames ‘E. Boasberg

JAMES E. BOASBERG
United States District Judge

Date: August 1, 2011
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